
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/SR.140

 
 

140th Plenary meeting 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea, Volume XIV (Summary Records, Plenary, General Committee, First and Third 

Committees, as well as Documents of the Conference, Resumed Ninth Session) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



140th meeting—27 August 1980 75

140th meeting
Wednesday, 27 August 1980, at 3.40 p.m.

President: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE

General debate (concluded)

1. Mr. NORMAN (Angola) said that his delegation welcomed
the progress achieved at the current session and opposed any at-
tempt to enact unilateral legislation concerning the seas and
oceans. With respect to production policies, they should be so
designed as to avoid harming the interests of present and poten-
tial land-based producers in the developing countries. The provi-
sions concerning compensation should be made more objective
and more realistic. The Group of 77 should continue its work on
developing more practical systems and giving practical form to
the provisions of article 151, paragraph 4. In that connexion, An-
gola affirmed its solidarity with the brother peoples of Zambia,
Zaire and Zimbabwe.
2. With regard to the review conference, it was unfortunate that
the moratorium clause had been deleted without being replaced
by other provisions intended to ensure respect for the principle of
the common heritage of mankind. Thanks to the sacrifices agreed
to by the Group of 77, a fairly happy solution had been found for
the composition of the Council and the voting system. However,
his delegation was not satisfied with the institutionalization of
consensus. In its opinion, article 161, paragraph 7 (g), should be
more flexible with respect to the required majorities, and it
should be specified that the Assembly would have clear suprem-
acy over the Council.
3. The clause concerning transfer of technology should be im-
proved, in the spirit of the resolution adopted by the Organiza-
tion of African Unity at Freetown (A/CONF.62/104): it should
be made clearer and should compel States parties to transfer tech-
nology without any time limitation. Angola firmly supported the
principle of the common heritage of mankind, which must also
apply to peoples who had not yet attained independence.
4. Mr. ALATTYIA (Qatar), referring to the question of
decision-making procedure in the Council, said that the member
countries of the Group of 77 and the group of Arab States op-
posed the right of veto, which had the effect of paralysing activi-
ties. Decisions concerning the sharing of benefits should be taken
by consensus. As for payments and contributions with respect to
the exploitation of the continental shelf beyond 200 nautical
miles, the words "and of peoples who have not yet attained inde-
pendence" should be added at the end of article 82, paragraph 4.
Article 70 should also be reworded to enable countries with spe-
cial geographical characteristics to derive greater benefit from the
living resources of the sea.
5. With respect to participation in the convention, national lib-
eration organizations recognized by the United Nations, in partic-
ular the Palestine Liberation Organization and the intergovern-
mental regional organizations, should be allowed to accede to it.
In the general provisions, the proposal concerning the basic prin-
ciple of the common heritage of mankind as jus cogens was the
cornerstone of the future convention. His delegation welcomed
the results achieved by consensus and hoped that the Conference
would continue its work in the same spirit of conciliation.
6. Mr. DJERMAKOYE (Niger) said that his delegation was
closely following the work of the Conference, and especially the

work which directly concerned land-locked developing countries
such as the Niger and related to the provisions on the right of
transit and access to the sea and the exploitation of the resources
of the sea by land-locked and geographically disadvantaged
countries (arts. 69, 70. 125 and 254). Although those provisions
were wishy-washy in many respects, his delegation accepted
them and would oppose any attempt to reopen the debate on
those questions which was made with the aim of further dimin-
ishing the already modest rights granted to those countries. The
Niger endorsed the principle of the common heritage of mankind
adopted without objection by the international community in its
Declaration of Principles Governing the Sea-Bed and the Ocean
Floor and the Subsoil thereof beyond the Limits of National Ju-
risdiction (General Assembly resolution 2749 (XXV)). and there-
fore welcomed the presence of article 136 in the negotiating text
(A/CONF.62/WP.10/Rev.2 and Corr.2-5). It would neverthe-
less be desirable to supplement that provision by recognizing that
the concept of the common heritage of mankind was a preemp-
tory norm of international law and a norm of jus cogens. in ac-
cordance with the amendment suggested by Chile and the amend-
ment proposed by the Philippines.
7. In view of its attachment to that principle and to the conven-
tion as a basic element of the new international economic order,
the Niger was seriously concerned about the enactment by certain
States of unilateral legislation on the exploitation of marine re-
sources. All the countries participating in the Conference, in par-
ticular the industrialized countries, must refrain from following
that example, which would jeopardize all the efforts made since
the beginning of the Conference. On the other hand, it would be
very desirable to create a common heritage fund; such a measure
would contribute to efforts to restructure international economic
relations and would help to reduce the gap separating the rich
from the poor countries.
8. It had already been emphasized that the bulk of sea-bed re-
sources were situated in the exclusive economic zones of coastal
States, in other words, within the 200-nautical-mile limit. It
therefore seemed meaningless for the common heritage fund to
draw solely on income derived from the exploitation of the area
beyond that l imit . The coastal States should withdraw their ob-
jections to the idea of establishing such a fund, in order that it
might be put into effect by means of an appropriate provision in
the draft convention.
9. It was unfortunate that the Second Committee had held
hardly any meetings during that session and that negotiating
group 6, which was responsible for questions relating to the defi-
nition of the continental shelf and payments and contributions
with respect to the exploitation of the continental shelf beyond
200 nautical miles (arts. 76 and 82). had not met, apparently in
order to avoid jeopardizing the delicate balance that had been
achieved. His delegation was not satisfied with the wording of
those two articles and would like them to be improved at the next
session.
10. In the opinion of his delegation, the f inal consensus
achieved represented a significant result, which it would not try
to undo. Nevertheless, it should be recalled that in their declara-



76 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

tkm at Freetown the heads of State and government of the Organ-
ization of African Unity had rejected any system of decision-
making in the Council based on a veto, weighted vot ing or
chamber voting. Several developing countries were also dissatis-
fied with the provisions concerning the transfer of technology
and the composition of the Council. The Drafting Committee de-
served praise for the considerable efforts it had made, but it was
to be hoped that substantive changes would not be made in the
negotiating text under the guise of purely editorial changes, in
particular with respect to land-locked or geographically disadvan-
taged countries. The Drafting Committee would have to harmo-
nize the different texts, and in particular the title of article 70,
where the geographically disadvantaged countries had been
called "States with special geographical characteristics". That
wording would therefore have to be reconsidered at the next ses-
sion, taking account of Romania's proposal on the access of such
countries to the living resources of the sea (C.2/lnformal Meet-
ing/51). Furthermore, his delegation supported the principle of
the participation in the future convention of States which were
not yet independent and of national liberation movements recog-
nized by the United Nations, the Organization of African Unity
or other regional organizations.
1 1 . Generally speaking, the package deal that had emerged
from the present session marked an important step towards con-
sensus, and its provisions should be included in the third revi-
sion. His delegation hoped that the international community
would not disappoint the legitimate hopes of billions of human
beings and that the countries participating in the Conference
would display a genuine polit ical wi l l to conclude the long-
awaited agreement. In particular, the coastal States had a respon-
sibility to help the land-locked States to mitigate the effects of
accidents of geography and history. The future convention would
be an important element in the codification and development of
general international law. The Niger, for its part, would scrupu-
lously refrain from impeding that process, while at the same time
reserving the right to make a final evaluation of the effects of the
convention before ratifying it.
12. Mr. TUFU1 (Tonga) said that his delegation attached great
importance to the concept of the common heritage of mankind. It
therefore regretted that it had not yet been possible, in para-
graphs 4 to 6 of article 76 on the definition of the continental
shelf, to include in that heritage all the resources of the sea-bed
and the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof beyond the limit of
200 nautical miles. Article 82, providing for payments and con-
tributions with respect to the exploitation of the continental shelf
beyond 200 nautical miles, seemed to indicate a certain guilty
conscience. But the unilateral action taken by certain countries to
exploit sea-bed resources beyond the limits of national jurisdic-
tion was far more serious, even if assurances had been given that
such exploitation would not begin before the entry into force of
the convention. One might ask what the situation would be if no
convention was concluded. All States were now sitting down to-
gether for the first time to work out a code of conduct to regulate
that part of the globe, since hitherto only a small number of sea-
faring nations had applied customary international law. If uni-
lateral action was not curbed, there was a danger that the law
might be put back several centuries. His delegation therefore ap-
pealed to those who had taken unilateral action or were contem-
plating such action to take heed of the concern of all countries
which had a right to benefit from the common heritage of man-
kind.
13. The questions of the financing of the Enterprise and the ad-
ministrative costs of the Authority were matters of no less con-
cern. Many small countries like Tonga would find it extremely
burdensome to make a contribution on which there was little
likelihood of a quick return. Some way must be found to allevi-
ate the financial burden on such countries, for they might other-
wise hesitate to ratify the convention.
14. The problem of the participation of countries which were
not yet entirely masters of their political and economic destinies
was also very important, and provision should be made for them
in the third revision of the negotiating text.

15. The term "consensus" should not be defined in too restric-
tive a manner. On that point, his delegation fully shared the ob-
servations made by the delegation of France (135th meeting).
16. In view of the concessions made by so many delegations on
vital issues in order to facilitate consensus, it was most unlikely
that the convention would attract the number of signatures and
ratifications it deserved without a provision for reservations. He
supported the comments made by the representative of Romania
on behalf of the geographically disadvantaged States (134th
meeting) and hoped that they would be reflected in the forthcom-
ing revision of the negotiating text.
17. Mr. WERNERS (Suriname) reminded the participants that
while the Third Conference on the Law of the Sea was holding
its general debate, a special session of the United Nations Gen-
eral Assembly devoted to economic development had just
opened. That session marked the beginning of the Third United
Nations Development Decade and the results of the Conference
would influence the economic development of the world. The
Conference had reached a decisive stage in its work, since the
time had come to transform the negotiating text, after revision by
the Collegium, into a basic proposal with the same status as the
legal document usually considered at other codification confer-
ences. Thus, at the first session of the United Nations Confer-
ence on the Law of Treaties, the rules of procedure of that Con-
ference had stated that the draft articles on the law of treaties
submitted to the Conference constituted the basic proposal for
discussion. Although it was too late to change the status of the
negotiating text at the current session, it was to be hoped that the
next session would mark the successful conclusion of the work
begun by the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed
and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction
and pursued by the Conference.
18. It was clear from the report of the working group of 21 to
the First Committee (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.28 and Add.l) that most
of the proposed changes had been the result of diplomatic bar-
gaining. The decision-making mechanism of the Council might
be improved, but in view of the statement made by the Chairman
of the Group of 77 on behalf of over 123 developing countries
(135th meeting), the package deal proposed for the issues com-
ing under the First Committee seemed to comply with document
A/CONF.62/62, paragraph 10,' regarding modifications to be
made in the negotiating text. His delegation could therefore ac-
cept it, bearing in mind that there was room for necessary
amendments at a later stage, in accordance with rule 33 of the
rules of procedure of the Conference.
19. With regard to Second Committee matters, Suriname was
among the countries which had sponsored document NG7/10/
Rev.2 on the delimitation of maritime boundaries between States
with opposite or adjacent coasts. It therefore regretted that the
two groups interested in that question had not been able to reach
agreement on a new text that was satisfactory to the sponsors of
the document and like-minded delegations. Although they had
not produced a new text, the consultations on delimitation had
proved once again that many delegations, including that of Suri-
name, were not satisfied with the wording of paragraph 1 of
articles 74 and 83. Far from helping to achieve a consensus, the
inclusion of the new formulation in the second revision would
only increase controversy, as had been stated in the letter of 30
May 1980 addressed to the President and signed by 29 countries,
including Suriname. It was to be hoped that, in drawing up the
third revision of the negotiating text, the Collegium would find a
way to solve that difficult problem.
20. As to the issues before the Third Committee, his delegation
thought that the new legal framework for marine research,
coastal State consent and international co-operation was in line
with the progressive development of international law. But once
again, there would still be room for minor amendments, in accor-

' See Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on
the Law of the Sea, vol. X (United Nations publication, Sales No.
E.79.V.4).



140th meeting—27 August 1980 77

dance with rule 33 of the rules of procedure. His delegation re-
served its position on other important matters, particularly the fi-
nal clauses and the settlement of disputes, pending the final
session of the Conference. It hoped that it would be possible to
establish a comprehensive and carefully balanced convention on
the law of the sea, in accordance with the Declaration of Princi-
ples adopted by the General Assembly in resolution 2749
(XXV).
21. Mr. PRANDLER (Hungary) said that his country's ap-
proach to the question of the new legal system of the seas was
determined by the principles of mutual co-operation, non-
discrimination and peaceful co-existence. His delegation thought
that the new convention, although in several respects unfavour-
able to land-locked and geographically disadvantaged countries
like Hungary, would nevertheless contribute to international
peace and security. The ninth session had resumed its work in a
somewhat unpromising atmosphere as a result of certain uni-
lateral actions. However, thanks to the efforts of the various
groups, and particularly the Group of 77, agreement had been
reached on Part XI of the text and on the general provisions, the
settlement of disputes and the final clauses (A/CONF.62/L.58,
59 and 60). Clearly, certain elements in the proposals did not
command universal support but it was precisely that fact which
gave them a compromise character. They should therefore be in-
cluded in the third revision.
22. The issue of the decision-making procedure in the Council,
which had been allotted to the First Committee, was one of the
most controversial. His delegation had favoured a three-fourths
majority because it considered that, apart from consensus, that
was the procedure which most effectively took into account the
interests of all. The opposition of some delegations to the princi-
ple of consensus was difficult to understand since the number of
issues to be decided by that procedure was very limited and items
which could raise difficulties would be decided by a two-thirds
or three-fourths majority. Furthermore, article 161, paragraph 7 (e),
provided for the establishment of a Conciliation Committee
in cases where there were objections to a particular proposal. His
delegation understood the concern of some small and medium-
sized industrialized countries which wished to be represented on
the Council, but it could not support proposals which would
jeopardize the results achieved. Since the voting system was in-
separable from the composition of the Council, any enlargement
of the latter would upset the delicate balance on which article
161, paragraph 7, was based. With regard to the limitation of
production, the Conference should find a balanced text which
would treat the interests of land-based producers with consider-
ation while at the same time protecting those of commodity im-
porters such as Hungary. In addition, the wording of the anti-
monopoly clause should be improved.
23. The texts proposed by the Third Committee (A/CONF.62/
C.3/L.34 and Add. 1 and 2) were satisfactory and his delegation
could accept them, despite some reservations. The proposals re-
lating to the general provisions, final clauses and settlement of
disputes were acceptable, although it would have been prefer-
able, in article 309, to have stipulated a three-fourths majority
for the entry into force of amendments.
24. The provisions of Parts II to X of the second revision of the
negotiating text were the outcome of lengthy efforts. There could
therefore be no question of reconsidering the text of article 125,
which constituted a compromise solution. If the convention was
to be acceptable to the land-locked States, it was essential to
maintain unchanged that provision on the right of access to and
from the sea and freedom of transit. Similarly, there could be no
question of limiting the right of innocent passage through the ter-
ritorial sea, as laid down in articles 7 to 21, or of attempting to
extend the jurisdiction of coastal States beyond the economic
zone, which was the aim of some informal proposals concerning
article 63. One coastal State had emphasized that it could not ac-
cept a convention under which the rights of the coastal States
were impaired or diminished; likewise, the land-locked States
and many other States could not accept a convention in which
their rights were impaired or diminished.

25. The Drafting Committee was to be congratulated on its
great efforts, although its task was far from complete. His dele-
gation was confident that it would scrupulously respect rule 53 of
the rules of procedure and would refrain from reopening substan-
tive discussions.
26. Now that the negotiating text enjoyed wide support, the
time would seem to have come for the United Nations Secretariat
to make a rough estimate of the financial commitments envisaged
for the States parties to the Convention, so as to give Govern-
ments an idea of their order of magnitude and to speed up accept-
ance of the final text. There were, of course, some outstanding
issues, such as delimitation, the Preparatory Commission and
participation in the Council, but Hungary was confident that a
universally acceptable convention would be successfully worked
out in the near future.
27. Mr. WILSON (Dominica) said that his delegation accepted
the principle that the resources of the sea, as the common heri-
tage of mankind, should be exploited for the benefit of all nations,
whatever their geographical situation. That question was of par-
ticular importance to Dominica because it was exposed to devas-
tation by cyclones, which were frequent in its part of the world.
Since its agriculture was vulnerable, the resources of the sea and
the sea-bed were of great importance to it.
28. Being an island, Dominica was particularly interested in
the regime of islands. The provisions relating to the territorial sea
and the exclusive economic zone took into account, in its view,
the various interest groups concerned and were favourable to its
economic future.
29. The delimitation of maritime boundaries should be based
on geographical and not political factors. From the geographical
standpoint, however, Dominica was disadvantaged. The Carib-
bean Sea, like some other seas in the world, was studded with is-
lands in close proximity, each with independent administrations.
The islets, bays and rocks interspersed among those islands came
under the jurisdiction of those various administrations. It fol-
lowed that the delimitation of maritime boundaries in the Carib-
bean posed delicate problems and his delegation held the view
that agreements must be concluded among the administrations
concerned to surmount those difficulties. Whatever the content of
those agreements, however, they should not in any way prejudice
Dominica's right in international law to determine its territorial
waters and exclusive economic zone in accordance with the text
of the convention. In that connexion, article 121, paragraph 3,
which stated that "rocks which cannot sustain human habitation
or economic life of their own shall have no exclusive economic
zone or continental shelf", was quite clear and acceptable to his
delegation, which laid emphasis on the words "of their own"
and interpreted the word "or" in the first line to mean "and".
Any attempt to delete paragraph 3 from article 121 would serve
only to complicate the already formidable problem of delimiting
maritime boundaries in the Carribbean. Hence, the provision
must be maintained. To give "rocks" a competence to establish
an exclusive economic zone would create a disturbing precedent
which could be based only on political factors.
30. In paragraph 1 of articles 74 and 83, it was difficult to in-
terpret the meaning of "international law". In Dominica's view,
the question of the delimitation of maritime areas between States
could be settled only in accordance with the concept of equity.
From that viewpoint, geographical factors were not the only con-
siderations; account must also be taken of the needs and aspira-
tions of the peoples of poor islands.
31. His delegation strongly supported the transitional provision
in Part XVI relating to final clauses, but felt that in order to
make the provision of paragraph 1 meaningful, paragraph 2
should be amended to enable the rights provided for in paragraph
1 to be exercised pending the settlement of a dispute.
32. His delegation supported the Romanian proposal relating to
geographically disadvantaged States. It would study closely the
third revision of the negotiating text and hoped that it would be
permitted to make any appropriate reservations to the convention
in order to safeguard the vital interests of the Commonwealth of
Dominica.



78 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

33. KIM CHUNG (Viet Nam) congratulated the co-
ordinators of working group 21 on successfully producing a text
which on many more or less delicate questions allotted to the
First Committee, such as the transfer of technology, the review
conference and production policies, constituted a distinct im-
provement on the preceding text. His delegation particularly wel-
comed the inclusion in article 161, paragraph 1 (d), of potential
producer States among developing States representing special in-
terests. But among the clearly positive results, the most impor-
tant was the solution found for the delicate problem of decision-
making in the Council of the Authority on questions of substance
through the adoption of a flexible procedure combining two-
thirds and three-fourths majorities and consensus, according to
the different categories of questions to be decided. A balanced
compromise had thus been secured between the legitimate inter-
ests of the various groups of States.
34. Although the work of the First Committee had on the
whole been positive, his delegation nevertheless had reservations
on certain issues. It hoped that the anti-monopoly clause would
be improved. Similarly, it would have preferred the financing of
the first mine site worked by the Enterprise to be underwritten
mainly by the contractors who would profit most from the ex-
ploitation of the international sea-bed. In a spirit of compromise,
however, it would agree to the incorporation of the text of docu-
ment A/CONF.62/C.l/L.28/Add.l in the third revision.
35. With regard to the work of the Second Committee, his del-
egation was not satisfied with all the solutions which had been
proposed. Nevertheless, in a spirit of conciliation and in order to
avoid upsetting the complex balance which had been established
after long and difficult negotiations, it thought that once again,
the over-all results could be regarded as generally acceptable and
constituting a basis for the third revision.
36. His delegation was convinced that the question of the de-
limitation of maritime areas could be settled only on the basis of
the principle of equity, as enshrined in legal theory and practice.
The consultations between the two opposing groups of 29 and
22, which had brought about a better understanding of their re-
spective points of view, should pave the way for the drafting, at
the next session, of a compromise formula acceptable to both
groups. It was to be hoped that the third revision would contain
an improved version of paragraph 1 of articles 74 and 83. Clari-
fying his delegation's views on the two key elements which were
still in dispute, he said it agreed that there should be a reference
to international law, on the clear understanding that such law was
based on equity. With regard to the qualification of the circum-
stances or factors which must be taken into account in determin-
ing the boundary line, his delegation would prefer the adjective
"relevant", but it could accept, in a spirit of compromise, the
deletion of any qualifying word or phrase.
37. He wished to take the opportunity to reaffirm his Govern-
ment's position, as defined in a statement dated 12 May 1977,
which was to settle all problems relating to the various maritime
areas and the continental shelf with the neighbouring countries
concerned through negotiations conducted on the basis of mutual
respect for independence and sovereignty, and in conformity
with the principle of equity. The primary aim of that good-
neighbour policy was to make the Oriental Sea which washed the
Shores of Viet Nam and other South-East Asian countries a zone
of peace, stability and co-operation.
38. Lastly, his delegation accepted, in a spirit of compromise,
the inclusion in the third revision of all the final clauses and gen-
eral provisions as formulated during informal plenary meetings.
It wished the Collegium every success in its task of devising a
text which would bring nearer the final objective desired by all:
the early adoption of a universal convention on the law of the
sea.
39. Mr SANZE (Burundi) said that the establishment of a new
international regime of the sea would constitute a revolution of
global proportions, both in the context of jus gentium and in the
history of mankind. What was required was to establish legal
machinery which would act as a barrier against the entrenchment

of that iron law, the maximization of profits. However, sprinkled
as it was with clauses likely to strengthen the already privileged
position of the most affluent States, the draft convention was
likely to confirm certain others in the role of eternal outsiders.
Thus, the provisions relating to the exclusive economic zone and
the continental shelf favoured the coastal States, some of which
had abundant technological resources and were thus assured of
exercising absolute mastery over the oceans.
40. Against the formidable competition which future miners
would undoubtedly offer land-based producers, protection should
be provided for countries which, like Burundi, were economi-
cally and commercially disadvantaged by being land-locked, just
as others were by being islands, with regard to the transit and
marketing of their goods. In his view, therefore, the legal rules
and procedures applicable to the transfer of technology, the ap-
proval of plans of work submitted by applicants and the selection
of applicants for production authorizations should be further im-
proved. The same was true of the policies relating to activities in
the Area and in particular production policies. The amendments
proposed by six African States, including Burundi, were in-
tended to remedy the shortcomings which had been detected. Ar-
ticle 171 in particular, in its suggested new form, would create a
legal instrument capable of providing land-based producers with
the protection they required.
4J . Since the sea-bed was the common heritage of mankind, it
would be illogical if the primary aim of the new regulations,
which were intended to be in the interests of all, was not to pro-
tect the countries which might be harmed by the exploitation of
that area. There would be a great temptation, once the exploita-
tion of the resources of the sea-bed became profitable, to take
refuge behind public international law in order to secure release
from commitments made under a treaty which recognized the de
facto and de jure equality of all. Maximum guarantees must
therefore be provided for the weakest members of the interna-
tional community.
42. Care must be taken not to institutionalize existing dispari-
ties by relegating the principle of the equality of States to the
realm of theory. Access to the benefits of the common heritage
of mankind represented by the immense resources of the seas and
oceans was a sacrosanct right which no one was authorized to
impugn.
43. Mr YATIM (Malaysia) welcomed the progress which had
been achieved towards the early adoption of a convention on the
law of the sea. The results of the negotiations in the First Com-
mittee on hard-core issues which at one time had seemed insolu-
ble were evidence of that progress. His delegation welcomed the
new amendments relating to the transfer of technology, the anti-
monopoly clause, the review conference, the qualifications of ap-
plicants and the amendments proposed concerning the system of
exploration and exploitation which would improve the text of the
second revision.
44. His delegation considered it imperative to find an equitable
formula for controlling sea-bed mining so as to protect present
and potential land-based producers of nickel, cobalt, manganese
and copper. As a potential producer of copper, Malaysia associ-
ated itself with the countries which had expressed the view that
the floor of 3 per cent should be lowered: such a decision would
have the direct effect of protecting the economies of land-based
producers.
45. With regard to the financial arrangements and the statute of
the Enterprise, his delegation welcomed the proposed amend-
ments to annex IV, article 11, paragraphs 3 (a), (b), (c), (d), (f),
(g) and (h), relating to the financing of the Enterprise. It was
also pleased to note the substantial progress which had been
made in overcoming the problems of the composition of the
Council, decision-making procedure in the Council and the out-
standing issues relating to article 162. The new wording of ar-
ticle 161, paragraphs 1 (d) and 7, seemed to be an improvement
on the previous text. The same was true of the proposed amend-
ments to article 162, paragraph 2 (/').
46. The provisions of articles 74 and 83 in the second revision



140th meeting—27 August 1980 79

on delimitation criteria constituted an acceptable compromise. In
that connexion, he wished to inform the Conference that both
Malaysia and Thailand had, in a spirit of mutual understanding
and co-operation, established a joint authority to administer, for
a period of 50 years, a disputed area of the continental shelf in
the Gulf of Thailand pending the delimitation of the continental
shelf between the two countries.
47. His delegation expressed appreciation of the untiring efforts
of the Chairman of the Third Committee to resolve the problems
relating to marine scientific research and, in a spirit of compro-
mise, it was prepared to accept the changes which the Chairman
had proposed (see A/CONF.62/C.3/L.34 and Add.l and 2).
48. While expressing support for the President's preliminary
report on the final clauses and general provisions, his delegation
wished to reserve its final position on article 307. In addition, it
considered that the articles on amendments to the convention and
its annexes were not exhaustive and therefore required further
consideration.
49. The work of the informal plenary meetings on dispute set-
tlement had also produced results which represented an improve-
ment on the previous text. In that connexion, his delegation reit-
erated its support for compulsory conciliation procedures as a
method of settling disputes.
50. His delegation expressed appreciation for the work of the
Drafting Committee and the language groups, but it had noted
with some concern that, at the current stage of the Conference,
delegations were still proposing changes which were described as
drafting changes but were in fact substantive. It therefore urged
all delegations not to introduce such changes, which would
merely have the effect of reopening negotiations on points which
were regarded as settled. It also urged the Drafting Committee to
address itself to clarifying terms which were still unclear in the
existing text. His delegation was prepared to co-operate with all
delegations in the search for consensus on all outstanding sub-
stantive issues.
51. Mr. VOLGA (Turkey) noted with satisfaction that the Con-
ference, in an informal plenary meeting, had favourably received
several texts relating to provisions and principles of a general
nature intended for incorporation in the convention (see A/
CONF.62/L.58). His delegation wished that its proposal appear-
ing in document GP/7 had had a similar reception, but it hoped
that the general principles enunciated therein would assist in the
implementation and interpretation of the Convention. Among the
proposals approved in the informal plenary meeting, the proposal
relating to archaeological and historical objects was the least
realistic, not in respect of the underlying principle, but because it
was associated with article 33 relating to the contiguous zone and
not with the provisions relating to the continental shelf.
52. One of the outstanding results of the Conference had been
to agree on an outer limit for the territorial sea. Nevertheless, in
regions of semi-enclosed seas where the present breadth was less
than 12 miles, States should not exercise unilaterally the right
given them under article 3 without taking into account the legiti-
mate interests of neighbouring countries. In that connexion, the
Conference still had before it the informal Turkish proposal C.2/
Informal Meeting/23. Similar comments applied to article 33 re-
lating to the establishment of a contiguous zone which, in spite
of its traditional place in international law, might be regarded as
outmoded with the advent of the concept of the exclusive eco-
nomic zone. Furthermore, the breadth of the zone, which had
been extended to 24 miles, might give rise to difficulties in cer-
tain cases.
53. His delegation had made known its views on the second re-
vision of paragraph 1 of articles 74 and 83 in a letter from the
representative of Turkey and also in the collective letter from the
group of 29. Since the revision had been made in breach of the
rules of the Conference, Turkey considered that the paragraph
concerned was null and void, and requested that the original text
should be reinstated in the third revision. With regard to the text
of paragraph 1 which had been proposed by the Chairman of ne-
gotiating group 7, and incorporated in the second revision, the

fact that reference was made to international law did not in itself
give rise to any difficulty. The group of 29 had, on the contrary,
always maintained that the Conference should not innovate in
that field, but should codify the law, in view of the fact that the
rules governing delimitation were already clearly defined. In ac-
cordance with the 1969 ruling of the International Court of Jus-
tice,2 delimitation must be effected by agreement in conformity
with equitable principles and having regard to all the relevant
factors; the equidistance line did not by any means have the
status of a rule of law and was only one method among many.
Those rules had been faithfully reproduced in document NC7/10/
Rev.2, which his delegation had co-sponsored, and had been in-
cluded in the original informal composite negotiating text.3 His
delegation's basic objection to the proposal by the Chairman of
negotiating group 7 concerned the way in which reference was
made to international law and the confusion which inevitably re-
sulted therefrom. Another unfortunate innovation was the use of
terminology unknown in international law instead of the term
"all relevant circumstances". The group of 29 had sought to em-
bark on negotiations to find a reasonable solution to that prob-
lem, which was among the major difficulties confronting the
Conference; his delegation was not sure whether the same will
had existed within the other group.
54. On the question of dispute settlement, document SD/3 met
the twofold requirement of reorganizing Part XV and drafting a
section devoted to compulsory conciliation procedure. His dele-
gation welcomed the results of the discussions on the subject re-
ported in document A/CONF.62/L.59. It nevertheless objected to
the idea that there was a link between article 298, paragraph 1
(a), and the articles on delimitation; they constituted two quite
different categories of provisions, one being procedural and the
other relating to substantive norms of international law. Para-
graph 1 (a) would benefit from being recast in the light of the
section on compulsory conciliation.
55. With regard to the regime of islands, his delegation was
one of the sponsors of the informal proposal contained in docu-
ment C.2/Informal Meeting/21, which was closely linked with
the issue of delimitation. The effect of that proposal would not
be to cast doubt in any way on the rights of islands; its only aim
was, in cases where islands might have a negative influence on
delimitation, to codify a principle which was already well estab-
lished in international law. Since the very first conference on the
law of the sea, islands had always been regarded as heading the
list of elements which created special circumstances, both in le-
gal theory and practice and in State practice. One of the gaps in
the informal composite negotiating text, as in the previous sys-
tem established in 1958, was precisely related to the fact that ar-
ticle 121 was silent on that important aspect of the regime of is-
lands. A useful contribution would be made to codification by
establishing the necessary link between the article concerned and
articles 15, 74 and 83.
56. Among the draft texts considered by the Second Commit-
tee, his delegation had supported the amendment submitted by
Argentina and other countries to article 21 (C.2/Informal Meet-
ing/58), by Yugoslavia to article 36 (C.2/Informal Meeting/2/
Rev.2), by Argentina to article 63 (C.2/lnformal Meeting/54/
Rev.l) and by Romania to article 70 (C.2/Informal Meeting/51).
Those amendments should be endorsed by the Conference.
57. On the whole, his delegation shared the views expressed by
the Group of 77 on the work of the First Committee. It also en-
dorsed the comments made by the Swiss representative about the
representation of medium-sized industrialized countries on the
Council.
58. Since the Third Committee had concluded its work before
the end of the session, it only remained for his delegation to pay
a well-deserved tribute to that Committee and its Chairman.

2 North Sea Continental Shelf, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1969, p. 3.
' Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law

of the Sea, vol. VIII, (United Nations publication, Sales No.E.78.V.4).



80 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

59. Mr. LUPINACCI (Uruguay) said that the revision of the
articles on Part XI and annexes 111 and IV which had been under-
taken by the co-ordinators of the group of 21 represented an im-
mense effort to achieve conciliation. His delegation was not sat-
isfied with all the new provisions, particularly the voting
procedure envisaged for the Council of the Authority because of
the disguised veto involved in the consensus formula. But in
view of the difficulties which had had to be overcome, it consid-
ered that those formulas, which reflected a delicate balance, of-
fered the best prospect of agreement and should be incorporated
in the third revision. In any event, it wished to make it clear, as a
member of the group of Latin American States, that it did not re-
gard the provisions of draft article 151 on production policies in
document A/CONF.62/C. l/L.28/Add. 1 as constituting one of the
questions on which the Council would take decisions in accor-
dance with draft article 162, paragraph 2 (/). Furthermore, the
wording of the draft article should be recast since it differed un-
necessarily from the current text of the second revision. Article
155, paragraph 2, relating to the principle of the common heri-
tage of mankind, should refer to the maintenance not of that prin-
ciple, but of the effective implementation of that principle, which
constituted a peremptory norm of international law, in accor-
dance with the idea embodied in the new paragraph 6 of article
305 (A/CONF.62/L.58). His delegation supported the incorpora-
tion of that paragraph in the third revision. With regard to the ne-
gotiations on the questions allotted to the First Committee, it re-
gretted that certain States had enacted, or were in the process of
enacting, unilateral legislation on the exploration and exploita-
tion of resources in the international Area, in spite of the current
negotiations and in violation of the common heritage principle.
60. With regard to the work of the Second Committee, his del-
egation regretted that the Committee had not considered certain
issues for which, in the opinion of many delegations, acceptable
solutions had not yet been found. Certain proposals which should
be given consideration had been submitted, in particular that con-
tained in document C.2/Informal Meeting/58, regarding the inno-
cent passage of warships through the territorial sea, which his
delegation supported, and the proposal contained in document
C.2/Informal Meeting/54/Rev.l, which it had co-sponsored and
which was based on a proposal that had first been made by Ar-
gentina and had obtained considerable support during the first
part of the ninth session. The latter proposal, whose purpose was
solely to ensure the protection of certain living resources, had
been amended during negotiations between the delegations con-
cerned, which had endeavoured to make the texts of articles 63
and 117 compatible. The amendments made to article 63 follow-
ing those negotiations offered a better prospect of consensus and
should be included in the third revision. On the other hand, cer-
tain provisions of the second revision and certain omissions from
that text, in particular in Parts V and VII, caused his delegation
some concern. He was not referring to key issues which had al-
ready been negotiated, but to certain aspects of those issues
which had not been negotiated. Some articles were drafted in an
ambiguous manner or were inconsistent with the articles relating
to key issues, and that upset the desired balance. Thus, his dele-
gation considered that the exclusive right of the coastal State in
the exclusive economic zone to construct and to authorize and
regulate the construction, operation and use of artificial islands,
installations and structures did not admit of any exception or lim-
itation with regard to types of installations or structures. The
wording of article 60, paragraph 1, should therefore be simpli-
fied. As that involved more than a mere drafting amendment, the
Second Committee should be asked to consider the matter. If the
provision remained unchanged, his delegation wished to make it
clear that it considered the reference in subparagraph (b) to
"other economic purposes" superfluous, since it was quite ob-
vious that all possible economic purposes were covered in article
56. That particular amendment could in fact be left to the Draft-
ing Committee, but it was clear that in other cases, such as the
recasting of paragraph 1, substantive changes were involved.
61. He also wished to draw attention to certain omissions: first,
there was no provision on responsibility for damage caused in the

exclusive economic zone by warships or other government ships
operated for non-commercial purposes as a result of non-ob-
servance of the laws and regulations adopted by the coastal
State in conformity with the convention; likewise, there was no
provision establishing the duty to inform the coastal State of any
of the actions mentioned in articles 105, 108, 109, 110 and 111
if they were conducted in that State's exclusive economic zone.
The examination of all those points in informal negotiations, far
from undermining the package deal, would facilitate consensus
and make it unnecessary for delegations to consider submitting
formal amendments.
62. His delegation welcomed the work accomplished by the
Third Committee in adjusting texts which involved the solution
of technical problems.
63. With regard to scientific research, he repeated that his dele-
gation had difficulties with article 246, paragraph 6, and that it
would be easier to reach consensus if the word "specific" was
replaced by a term which would remove doubts and reservations.
Furthermore, at the end of paragraph 6, in the Spanish text, the
words "operaciones en ellas realizadas" should be replaced by
the words "aquellas operaciones". Lastly, his delegation did not
interpret article 246 as implying any direct or indirect limitation
of the sovereign rights of the coastal State over its continental
shelf, as recognized by customary and conventional law and in
article 77 of the second revision.
64. With regard to the final clauses and general provisions, the
new texts which had emerged from the negotiations conducted in
informal plenary meetings were in principle acceptable to his del-
egation and should be included in the third revision. Neverthe-
less, Uruguay had a serious objection to draft article 305. It was
stated in paragraph 1 of that article that, as between States par-
ties, the convention prevailed over the Geneva Conventions of
1958. However, the regime established by the new convention
would have different bases from those of the Geneva Conven-
tions and would reflect new legal concepts. Customary law still
held good, but one legal regime, conceived as an integral whole,
replaced the other regime or was substituted for it in the eyes of
the States parties.
65. With regard to reservations, his delegation supported the
solution proposed in document FC/2I/Rev.l/Add. 1 (art. 303)
provided that a drafting amendment was made deleting the un-
necessary reference to exceptions. In any case, the results
achieved in that area were for the moment provisional.
66. Although the Conference had now surmounted the major
difficulties, it must still address itself to finding the necessary fi-
nal compromise formulas and polishing up the text before the fi-
nal draft convention was completed.
67. Mr. ORANTES-LUNA (Guatemala) said that, in endeav-
ouring to reach a generally acceptable package deal, it was im-
portant not to overlook points which were of vital interest to cer-
tain countries. If the compromise formulas arising out of the
negotiations were the result of concessions made by delegations
which held opposing positions, it did not follow that the negotiat-
ing efforts had succeeded or that the text, and consequently the
prospects of consensus, could not be further improved. His dele-
gation was convinced that the joint proposals and unity of action
of the Group of 77 had made a considerable contribution to the
success of the negotiations.
68. Referring to specific points, he said, firstly, that the pas-
sage of warships through the territorial sea must be subject to the
prior authorization of the State concerned, so as to comply with
the national legislation of many countries, to legalize a common
practice and to avoid conflicts. Secondly, as a sovereign State,
Guatemala was required to do everything possible to encourage
the conservation and management of the biomass in its exclusive
economic zone, outside that zone and in what at present consti-
tuted the adjacent sea. Measures for the conservation of migra-
tory species must be adopted jointly by the coastal State and
other States whose nationals caught such species in the contigu-
ous zones, and purely mercantile interests, which would disturb
the biological balance in the biomass, must never predominate.



141st meeting—29 August 1980 81

Thirdly, the fishery resources of the coasts and contiguous zones
must be preserved, and should not be managed in a manner
which failed to take account of the conservation policies of
coastal States; it was therefore essential to provide for machinery
to control the aggressive exploitation to which fishery resources
were at present being subjected. Fourthly, Guatemala had for
some time been producing nickel in order to diversify its econ-
omy, and part of its development now relied on such production.
A number of delegations had already expressed doubts as to the
future of the land-based producers when deep-sea mining became
a reality. His delegation therefore requested that the Conference
should give due attention to that matter and provide for a produc-
tion control formula giving adequate protection to land-based
developing-country producers. Fifthly, his delegation in no way
opposed the idea that peoples which had not acceded to indepen-
dence or whose territory was occupied by a foreign Power should
fully enjoy the economic benefits that would accrue to them un-
der the Convention: the Conference should therefore devise ma-
chinery which would enable international agencies such as the
United Nations Development Programme to invest the funds
deriving from such benefits in order to promote development of
those peoples. Sixthly, his delegation had demonstrated goodwill
during the negotiations in the hope that a wording satisfactory to
all parties and capable of commanding a consensus would be
found for article 300. Guatemala welcomed the progress made at
the second part of the ninth session.
69. Mr. FERRER (Panama) expressed satisfaction at the sub-
stantial progress made at the second part of the ninth session, and
the hope that the long and arduous negotiations carried out so far
would lead to the adoption, at the next session, of a law of the
sea capable of protecting the interests of all States. He welcomed
the fact that the Conference had accepted the draft article on jus
cogens, submitted by the Chilean delegation, and supported the
participation of liberation movements recognized by the United
Nations or by international regional organizations in the benefits
derived from the convention.

70. His delegation maintained its position on the innocent pas-
sage of warships through the territorial waters of coastal States,
that is, on the need to obtain express permission for such passage
from the State exercising sovereignty over the waters in question.
It welcomed the agreement reached on the Greek proposal con-
cerning the protection of archaeological or historical objects, on
the proposals for the use of the sea for peaceful purposes and on
the protection of marine mammals, and other proposals which
had received substantial support.

71. On the other hand, it could not support the intentions of
States which, by unilateral action, sought to withdraw certain sea
or land areas from the regime of the Convention or from the sov-
ereign jurisdiction of other States. It therefore protested vigor-
ously against the legislation enacted by the United States Con-
gress, approved by President Carter on 11 August 1980, and
designed to empower the United States to establish demarcation
lines delimiting the high seas and United States internal waters,
which, under section 2 (c) of the act in question, encompassed
the waterway and adjacent lands known until 1 October 1979 as
the "Panama Canal Zone". That provision was contrary to the
principle of sovereignty and jurisdiction exercised by the Repub-
lic of Panama over the waterway zone, which had never ceased
to be an integral part of national Panamanian territory. It there-
fore violated the Panama Canal Treaty, which had been in force
since 1 October 1979 and under which, what had been known as
the "Canal Zone" and the administrative jurisdiction exercised
over that zone by the United States had been explicitly termi-
nated. The act was therefore simply creating grounds for con-
flict, just as the act on deep-sea exploration and mining had
done. His delegation, therefore, could not but strongly condemn
any form of unilateral legislation which endangered the balance
of the current negotiations and cast doubts on the desire for nego-
tiation.

The meeting rose at 6.05 p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


